EXPRESSION OF CYTOCHROME P450 IN TUMOR TISSUES AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH CANCER DEVELOPMENT

Tsunehiro Oyama¹, Norio Kagawa², Naoki Kunugita³, Kyoko Kitagawa⁴, Masanori Ogawa¹, Tetsunosuke Yamaguchi¹, Rie Suzuki¹, Tsuyoshi Kinaga¹, Yasunori Yashima¹, Shinichi Ozaki¹, Toyohi Isse¹, Yong-Dae Kim⁵, Heon Kim⁵ and Toshihiro Kawamoto¹

¹ Department of Environmental Health, School of Medicine, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Kitakyushu 807-8555, Japan, ² Department of Biochemistry, Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Nashville, TN 37232-0146, USA, ³ Department of Health Information Science, School of Health Science, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Kitakyushu 807-8555, Japan, ⁴ 1st Department of Biochemistry, Hamamatsu University School of Medicine, Hamamatsu, Japan, ⁵ Department of Preventive Medicine, College of Medicine, Chungbuk National University, Cheongju 361-763, Korea

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

2. Introduction

- 3. Role of CYPs in tumor development
 - 3.1. Metabolic activation of carcinogens by CYPs
 - 3.2. Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and CYPs
 - 3.3. Role of CYPs in metabolism of anticancer drugs

4. Expression of CYPs in tumor tissues

- 4.1. Breast cancer
- 4.2. Colon cancer
- 4.3. Lung cancer
- 4.4. Esophageal cancer
- 4.5. Liver cancer
- 4.6. Prostate cancer
- 4.7. Brain tumor
- 4.8. Others
- 4.0.00
- 5. Conclusions
- 6. References

1. ABSTRACT

(cytochrome P450s) catalyze the CYPs conversion of numerous numbers of xenobiotics including carcinogens and drugs. CYPs can be involved in metabolic pathways of activation of procarcinogens and/or inactivation of carcinogens during the tumorigenic processes. Recently, increasing number of cancer tissues as well as normal tissues have been found to express a variety of CYPs. The local expression of CYPs in tumors appears to be very important for the management of cancers since CYPs expressed in tumors may be involved in activation and/or inactivation of anticancer drugs. The expression of CYPs in tumors may also convert endogenous substrates to metabolites that facilitate cancer development. In this review, we summarize the association of CYP expression in cancer tissues with carcinogenesis and cancer treatment.

2. INTRODUCTION

Cytochrome P450 (CYP) was named from the characteristic absorption peak of its reduced CO-complex at 450nm. CYP is a multi-gene superfamily of constitutive and inducible heme-containing monooxygenases that are involved in metabolisms of a diverse range of xenobiotics and endogenous substrates (1). CYP enzymes (P450s) are localized in mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum. These enzymes catalyze the monooxygenase reaction using molecular oxygen and equivalent electrons transferred from the NADPH-P450 reductase (a flavoprotein containing both FAD and FMN) in endoplasmic reticulum, or from ferredoxin (an iron-sulfur protein) and ferredoxin-reductase (a flavoprotein containing FAD) in mitochondria. Mitochondrial P450s are mostly involved in endogenous sterol metabolisms including biosyntheses of steroid hormones, vitamin D_3 , and bile acids.

Microsomal CYPs metabolize both endogenous and exogenous substrates. The conversion of xenobiotics to more hydrophilic forms by the CYP monooxygenase system is particularly important in protecting the body from small molecular weight foreign compounds (2). As schematically illustrated in Figure 1, xenobiotics undergo a variety of cellular metabolic pathways. In the body, xenobiotics are metabolized by the phase I enzymes including the microsomal CYP families and epoxide hydrolases. The metabolites are then modified by the phase II enzymes that include UDP-glucuronosyltransferases (UGTs), sulfotransferases, glutathione S-transferases, and N-acetyltransferases. These reactions generally result in pharmacological inactivation or detoxification. Conjugated metabolites of xenobiotics are further subjected to specific transport machineries, thus facilitating elimination from the body. However, CYPs incidentally convert xenobiotics to more active and/or toxic compounds that may form DNA-adducts resulting in the initiation and promotion of



Figure 1. Metabolic pathways of carcinogen. Carcinogens introduced into cells are metabolized by phase I enzymes and detoxified by phase II enzymes. The carcinogens are activated by phase I enzymes to DNA-binding metabolites. The DNA-binding metabolites interact with chromosomal DNA and form DNA adducts, which may produce mutations and trigger cell death or the development of cancer.

tumorigenesis (3). Therefore, CYPs play central roles in tumor development and progression (4). Since CYPs also metabolize many anti-cancer drugs not only in normal tissues but also in tumor tissues, the drug metabolisms by CYPs is of great interest for chemotherapeutic treatment of cancer (5). In this review, we summarize information of A) the role of CYPs in tumor development and B) expression of the CYP genes in tumors.

3. ROLE OF CYPS IN TUMOR DEVELOPMENT

3.1. Metabolic activation of carcinogens by CYPs

The CYP enzymes (P450s) are capable of metabolizing a variety of carcinogens, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, heterocyclic amines, nitrosamines, azo-dyes, and alkylating agents (3, 4). CYP1A1, CYP2A6, CYP2E1, and CYP3A4/5 are the major P450s that metabolize carcinogens in quality and quantity (3). The metabolism of carcinogens by the CYP enzymes may produce active derivatives that lead to the tumor initiation. As shown in Figure 1, carcinogens exposed to cells are metabolized, and subsequently activated or discharged. Carcinogen-DNA adducts produced in oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes often yield mutations in these genes, which may lead to cell death or cancerization when DNA repair function does not rescue the DNA damage (Figure 1).

The relative risk of lung cancer in Japanese smokers compared with nonsmokers is approximately 5 times higher in men and 3 times higher in women, indicating that smoking contributes by far the most to the susceptibility of lung cancer compared with other risk factors (6). Tobacco smoke is well known to contain many carcinogens, such as benzopyrene and nitrosamine. Benzopyrene is a procarcinogen and does not exhibit carcinogenicity. However, it undergoes metabolic activation by the phase I enzyme CYP1A1 into epoxides that are mostly converted to inactive metabolites by the phase II enzyme glutathione S-transferases (GSTs), particularly by the Mu class (GSTM1) of GSTs (7). However, the epoxides transported into the nucleus may bind DNA resulting in the formation of DNA-adducts that exhibit strong carcinogenicity. The DNA-adducts of benzopyrene derivatives produced by CYP1A1 are capable of causing specific mutations in p53 gene, a tumor suppressor gene related to cell repair and apoptosis (8). When the DNA adducts target the p53 gene in particular, genetic alterations in the p53 gene cause errors in DNA repair at an accelerating pace, leading to carcinogenesis (9).

Low molecular weight carcinogens related to tobacco smoke are also metabolically activated by CYP2E1 (10). CYP2E1 was originally found as the major form of ethanol-inducible CYPs. CYP2E1 catalyzes and activates a broad range of carcinogens such as nitrosamines. The CYP2E1 level in the human liver greatly varies among individuals. This is probably due to differing induction levels by environmental factors. However, the inductions of CYP2E1 in extra-hepatic tissues have not been well investigated.

3.2. Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and CYPs

Genetic polymorphism is defined as the occurrence at a gene locus of variants at a frequency of greater than 1% of the same population (11). In particular, a single nucleotide substitution gives rise to SNP (singe nucleotide polymorphism) (12). As appearances and characters differ with the individual, one SNP locus occurs per approximately 1,000 nucleotides in an individual (13). Recently, many SNPs are reported in CYP genes using high-throughput technologies such as DNA microarray (14). A CYP gene with SNP results in individual differences in the transcriptional and translational efficiencies, enzyme properties, and ultimately in enzyme activities (13). Smokers with high CYP1A1 activity and low GST activity are expected to have a high risk of lung cancer, as a study has reported that the polymorphism of CYP1A1 and GST is associated with the risk of lung cancer (15). On the other hand, the enzymes CYP2E1 and CYP2A6 have been reported to be highly expressed in bronchial epithelium (16). We reported that high CYP2E1 activity in smokers might be associated with the development of lung cancer arising from bronchial epithelium (10). Enzyme SNPs as well as the induction of enzyme expression by the increased exposure to carcinogens differ among racial groups (9, 17). Therefore, the susceptibility of individuals to lung cancer may be difficult to diagnose only by a single enzyme SNP (18), suggesting the requirement of systematic studies of a series of genes encoding the phase I and phase II enzymes.

3.3. Role of CYPs in metabolism of anticancer drugs

The most relevant CYP genes to drug metabolism are CYP1, CYP2 and CYP3. Recently, CYPs have been shown to be involved in the metabolism of several essential anticancer agents such as tamoxifen, taxol and vinca alkaloids. For instance, CYP3A enzymes not only inactivate the major anticancer drugs but also activate some anticancer prodrugs, such as cyclophosphamide and ifosphamide (19). Tamoxifen is the drug of first choice for the treatment of estrogen receptor-positive breast cancer (20) and also used as a preventative agent in women who are at an increased risk of developing breast cancer (21). Tamoxifen is extensively metabolized in the human liver. The formation of 4-hydroxytamoxifen, a potent antiestrogen with high affinity for the estrogen receptor, is related to the therapeutic benefit achieved by the tamoxifen treatment. CYP2B6, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, and CYP3A enzymes (CYP3A4, CYP3A5, and CYP3A7) are capable of catalyzing the 4-hydroxylation of tamoxifen. Although CYP3A enzymes are important for the activation of tamoxifen, CYP3A4 also convertes tamoxifen to ahydroxytamoxifen that is associated with an increased risk of endometrial cancer (22). Similarly, other CYP enzymes could be involved in both activation of pro-anticancer drugs and inactivation of anticancer drugs, and incidentally involved in conversion of them to carcinogens. As CYP3A enzymes are expressed in extrahepatic tissues such as digestive tract (23-25), many CYPs are expressed in varieties of extrahepatic tissues including cancer tissues. When the CYP enzymes catalyzing activation and/or inactivation of anticancer drugs are expressed in cancer tissues, the CYP-mediated drug metabolisms in tumors may be a relevant clinical factor in tumor sensitivity to these anticancer drugs.

4. EXPRESSION OF CYPS IN TUMOR TISSUES

CYP expression has been studied in a variety of human tumors as well as normal tissues. Especially, breast cancer, colon cancer, and lung cancer have been intensively investigated. These studies also used a variety methods, such as detection of CYP activity, identification of proteins by immunoblotting or immunohistochemistry, and detection of mRNA by Northern blotting (NB), reverse transcriptional PCR (RT-PCR) and real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RTQPCR). The expression of CYPs in tumor and normal tissues was summarized in Table 1.

4.1. Breast Cancer

Today, estrogens are well known to act as growth factors that promote cancer cell growth. Estrogens interact with estrogen receptors and trigger the signal transduction that promotes cell proliferation. However, there is no consistent evidence of increased serum estrogen level or other systemic estrogen abnormalities in women with breast cancer. Biosynthesis of estrogens from androgens catalyzed by aromatase (CYP19) occurs mostly in gonads and placenta of humans, which regulates serum estrogens. However, recent studies in the expression and regulation of the CYP19 gene have uncovered the important roles of local expression of CYP19 in varieties of tissues that regulates the cellular estrogen levels in paracrine and/or autocrine manners (26). Intratumoral production of estrogens plays an important role in the proliferation of breast cancer cells, especially in post-menopausal women. More than 70% of breast carcinoma specimens are estrogen-dependent, and aromatase expressed in breast cancer cells and surrounding stromal cells is up regulated compared to non-cancerous cells (27). Therefore, the blockage of the estrogen-dependent pathway by tamoxifen and aromatase inhibitors has been a target for prevention and management of breast cancer (28-31).

In addition to metabolisms of carcinogens and anticancer drugs, CYPs are the major enzymes to mediate the estrogen metabolism, and the metabolites also play a role in the initiation and progression of breast cancer (32). CYP1B1 converts 17β -estradiol to the carcinogenic 4hydroxyestradiol, suggesting that the increased expression of CYP1B1 in breast tissues may be associated with the increased risk of breast cancer. In contrast, CYP1A1 and CYP3A4 catalyze the conversion of estradiol to noncarcinogenic 2-hydroxyestradiol, which may protect cells against estrogen-induced carcinogenesis. Therefore, the expression of CYPs in breast cancer and surrounding tissues is of great interest for the management of breast cancer.

Several forms of CYPs have been identified in breast cancer. Aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase (AHH) activity reflecting the expression of CYP1A1 (17) was observed in 153 primary breast cancers, and the high AHH activity was demonstrated to be associated with poor prognosis (33). Several groups have demonstrated the expressions of CYP1A1 and aryl hydrocarbon receptor in breast cancer (34, 35). CYP1A was expressed in 40% of breast cancers (36, 37). Goth-Goldstein et al. (34) reported that CYP1A1 expression was higher in breast tumors compared to that of normal breast tissues, while El-Rayes et al. (38) reported that CYP1A1 expression determined by immunohistochemistry was significantly lower in malignant breast tumor tissues as compared with normal tissues. CYP3A4 was detected both in breast tumors and in normal tissues (38). CYP3A was found in 22% of breast cancers determined by immunohistochemistry (36, 37).

CYP1B1 mRNA by RT-PCR (39) and CYP1B1 protein by immunohistochemistry and immunoblotting (40, 41) have been detected in breast cancer. CYP2C was identified in breast cancer by immunoblotting and CYP2C expression level in tumor tissues was similar with that in normal tissues (42). Two of 5 breast tumors expressed CYP2C judged by immunohistochemistry (43). CYP2E1 expression showed to be higher in breast tumors compared in normal breast tissues (38, 44).

4.2. Colon Cancer

Colorectal cancer is one of the most common neoplasms in the world, the incidence rate of which is close to that of lung cancer in Caucasian individuals (45). The major risk factor of colorectal cancer is various polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) included in food (46, 47). Many studies have been reported that colorectal cancer is related to genotypes of various CYPs, which metabolize varieties of PAHs. However, there are few studies of CYPs expression in colorectal epithelium.

reference. Parentheses indicate % positive rate in the specimens	Table 1.	The expression	1 of CYPs	in various	tumors	and	corresponding	normal	tissues.	Superscript	reveals	the	number	of
	reference.	Parentheses ind	licate % po	sitive rate in	n the spee	cime	ens							

Breast Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
	Protein	RNA	Protein	RNA
CYP1A	IHC (40%) ^{36, 37}			
CVD1A1	HIC (1070) HIC17, 34, 35, 38		ULC34.38	
CITIAI	111C 111C 111C 111C 111C 111C 111C 111	pm p.cp 39	IIIC ·	
CYP1B1	IHC, IB ^{40, 41}	RT-PCR ³⁹		
CYP2C	IHC(33%) ⁴³ , IB ⁴²		IB^{42}	
CYP2E1	IHC ^{38, 44}		IHC ^{38, 44}	
CVP3A	IHC (22%) ^{36, 37}			
CVB2A4	HIC (2270)		HIC ³⁸	
CYP3A4	IHC		IHC	
Colon Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
	Protein	RNA	Protein	RNA
CYP1A	IHC ⁴⁸			
CVP1A1	FΔΔ ⁵⁰			
CVD1D1	HIC ⁴⁰			
CIFIBI	IIIC			
СҮРЗА	IHC (55%) ¹⁴ , ¹⁶		12.01	(2.7)
CYP3A4	IB ⁴⁹		IHC ^{45, 51}	RT-PCR ^{32, 35}
CYP2C	IHC (33%) ⁴³		IHC ⁴³	
Lung Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
Dung Cunter	Brotoin	DNA	Protoin	DNA DNA
CVD1 A 1	110telli	NID ⁵⁷	Trotein	NID55
CIPIAI	IB	NB		NB ¹
				RIQPCR ⁵⁵
				RT-PCR ⁷⁰
CYP3A	IHC ⁶³		IHC ⁶³	
CYP3A4		RT-PCR (13%) ⁶⁴	IHC (20%) ^{64, 70, 71}	
CYP3A5		BT-PCB (50%) ⁶⁴	IHC (100%) ^{64,70,71}	BT-PCB ⁷⁰
CVD1D1	10.66	DTODOD66	IIIC (10070)	proponde
CIPIBI	IB	RIQPCK**	IB	KTQPCK**
CYP2B7		KNP ⁶⁷		KNP ⁶⁷
				RT-PCR ^{/0}
CYP4B1		RNP ⁶⁷		RNP ⁶⁷
1				RT-PCR ⁷⁰
CVP2C			IHC ⁴³	hi i ch
CYP2E1			line	PT PCP ⁷⁰
CYPZEI				RI-PCR ¹⁰
CYP2F1				RT-PCR ⁷⁰
Esophageal Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
	Protein	RNA	Protein	RNA
CVP1A	IHC ^{73, 74}			RT-PCR ⁷²
CVP2A	me			PT PCP ⁷²
CYPZA				RI-PCR
CYP3A	IHC ^{73, 74}			RT-PCR ⁷²
CYP4A				RT-PCR ⁷²
CYP1B1	IHC(100%) ⁴⁰			
CMD4D	-()			DT DCD??
СҮР4В				RI-PCR
CYP2E1				RT-PCR ⁷²
Liver Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
	Protein	RNA	Protein	RNA
CVP1A1	IB ⁷⁷		IB ⁷⁷	
CVD142	10	-	HIC ⁷⁹	-
CIFIAZ	77		INC	
CYP2A1	IB''		IB''	
CYP3A	IHC (69%) ⁷⁸		IHC (14%) ^{78, 79}	
CYP3A1	IB^{77}		IB ⁷⁷	
CYP4A1	IB ⁷⁷		IB ⁷⁷	
CVP2C	IHC (25%) ⁴³		IHC ⁷⁹	
CH12C	HIC (2570)		HIC ⁷⁹	
CYPZEI	IHC		IHC	
Prostate Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
	Protein	RNA	Protein	RNA
CYP1A	IHC (63%) ⁸²			
CVP1A2		RT-PCR (43%) ⁸¹		RT-PCR (67%) ⁸¹
CVP3A	IHC (61%) ⁸²			
CVD244	1110 (0170)			DT DCD
CYP3A4		nm ngn ⁹¹		KI-PCK
CYP3A5		KT-PCR ^{®1}		KT-PCR°1
CYP3A7				RT-PCR ⁸¹
CYP1B1		RT-PCR (100%) ⁸¹		RT-PCR (100%) ⁸¹
CVP4B11		RT-PCR ⁸¹		RT-PCR ⁸¹
CVP2C	IHC (25-83%)43,82		IHC ⁴³	AT LON
CVP2C10	1110 (23-0370)	DT DCD ⁸	IIIC	DT DCD
CYP2C19		KI-PCK		KI-PCK
CYP2D6		RT-PCR(43%) ⁸¹		КГ-PCR(29%) ⁶¹
Brain Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
	Protein	RNA	Protein	RNA
CYP1A	IHC ⁸³		IHC ⁸³	
CVP2A6	14083	1		1
CIT2A0	HIC	+		+
CIPIBI	IHC."	+		
CYP2B1	IHC°			
CYP2C9	IHC ⁸³	RT-PCR ⁸⁴	IHC ⁸³	
CYP2E1	IHC ⁸³		IHC ⁸³	
СҮРЗА	IHC ⁸³	1	IHC ⁸³	1
CVD2A5		PT PCP ⁸⁴		+
		KI-PUK		1
Bladder Cancer	Tum	or tissue	Norn	nal tissue
	Protein	RNA	Protein	RNA
CYP1A	IHC(68%) ⁸⁵			
CYP2C	IHC(29%) ⁸⁵			1
CVP2A	IHC(68%) ⁸⁵	1		

IHC: Immunohistochemistry, IB: Immunoblotting, EAA: Enzyme activity assay, RT-PCR: Reverse transcriptasepolymerase, chain reaction, RTQPCR: Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction, NB: Northern blotting, RNP: RNase protection

CYP1A and CYP3A were detected by immunohistochemistry (48) and CYP3A4 was identified by immunoblotting (49) in colon cancer. Sterling et al. (50) reported an induced activity of CYP1A1 in human colon cancer. The expression of CYP3A4 was found in normal colon tissues (43, 51), and the presence of CYP3A and CYP3A4 transcripts in human colorectal epithelium and cultured colorectal cell lines have been also reported (52, 53). Five of 9 colon tumors revealed CYP3A expression determined by immunohistochemistry (43). CYP3A catalyzes not only activation of anticancer drugs such as cyclophosphamide and ifosphamide, but also inactivation of two widely used taxanes, paclitaxel and docetaxel, and vinca alkaloids. Therefore, the presence of CYP3A4 enzyme activity in colorectal cancer cells may influence tumor sensitivity to some drugs against colon cancer (25). CYP1B1 was detected by immunohistochemistry in colon cancer (40). Three of 9 colon tumors as well as normal colon tissues expressed CYP2C determined by immunohistochemistry (43).

4.3. Lung Cancer

Lung cancer is the most frequent cancer in the world today, and the epidemic of the disease is still ongoing. The lung constitutes the primary site of entry into the body for a wide variety of inhaled chemicals, such as PAHs. It is important to elucidate the roles of xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes including CYPs for better understanding of the mechanisms of lung carcinogenesis. Nevertheless, there is great controversy due to the low levels of enzymes present in the lung. AHH activity was studied in 105 lung cancers although this study did not show the histological difference of AHH activity level (54).

CYP1A1 is the most intensively studied CYP enzyme in the human lung because CYP1A1 is the major enzyme involved in PAH metabolism and may play a role in the development of lung cancer. Significantly higher levels of CYP1A1 expression and aromatic/hydrophobic DNA adducts were observed in lungs from female smokers compared with normal lung tissues in male smokers (55), suggesting an association with the risk of lung cancer (56). By Northern blotting analysis, CYP1A1 mRNA was found in 23% (10/43) of lung cancers (57). The authors suggested a presence of specific 10 kb mRNA species of CYP1A1 in lung cancer (57) although this tumor specific 10 kb CYP1A1 mRNA has not been followed up in any other studies. CYP1A1 enzyme was also identified by immunoblotting in the study of 12 lung cancer patients (58).

There has been a growing interest towards CYP2A6, which plays the major role in the nicotine metabolism both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (59). Miyamoto *et al.* showed that CYP2A6 gene deletion, which is one of CYP2A6 polymorphism, has the protective effect against lung cancer (60), although the mechanisms of CYP2A6 regulation are not well understood (61). Recently, Su *et al.* (62) has reported a high expression level of CYP2A13 in the respiratory tract that catalyzes monooxygenation reactions in the nicotine metabolism more efficiently than CYP2A6. CYP3A expression was demonstrated in both

tumor and normal tissues by immunohistochemistry (63). CYP3A5 catalyzes the activation of the anticancer prodrugs cyclophosphamide and ifosphamide. CYP3A5 mRNA was found in all of eight lung cancers, and CYP3A4 mRNA in one of eight lung cancers. Both CYP3A5 and CYP3A4 mRNA were also identified in normal lung tissue (64). PAH-DNA adduct levels was reported to have a positive correlation with the amount of CYP3A5 in alveolar macrophages of smokers (65).

CYP1B1 metabolizes both tobacco carcinogens and 17 β -estradiol. Spivack *et al.* (66) reported using realtime quantitative polymerase chain reaction and Western blot that CYP1B1 is commonly expressed in normal lung tissues and lung cancers. CYP2B7 and CYP4B1 mRNA were also identified in normal lung and cancer tissues by RNase protection assay (67).

CYP2E1 metabolizes some tobacco-specific nitrosamines (68). Activated carcinogens by CYP2E1 make oxygen radicals and cause tissue injury (69). Raunio *et al.* demonstrated the expression of CYP2E1 mRNA in normal lung tissues (70). In addition, normal lung tissues were also found to express CYP1A1, CYP3A5, CYP2B7, CYP4B1 and CYP2F1 mRNA determined by RT-PCR (70). CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 expression were also detected in normal lung tissues by immunohistochemistry (70, 71). CYP2C expression was detected by immunohistochemistry in normal bronchial gland (43).

4.4. Esophageal cancer

Proteins and/or mRNA of CYP1A, CYP2A, CYP3A, CYP4A, CYP4B, and CYP2E1 were detected in normal esophageal epithelium (72). CYP1A and CYP3A were identified in tumor esophageal tissues (73, 74). CYP1B1 was detected in squamous cell carcinoma of esophagus by immunohistochemistry (40).

4.5. Liver cancer

Most CYPs associated with drug metabolism were also expressed in hepatocellular carcinomas (43, 75-77). CYP3A protein was revealed in 11 of 16 (69%) normal liver tissues by immunohistochemistry although CYP3A protein in 2 of 14 (14%) hepatocellular carcinoma cases (78). Kirby et al. showed that the expression levels of CYP1A1, CYP2A1, CYP3A1 and CYP4A1 in tumor tissues decreased in comparison with those in normal tissues (77). Guengerich et al. showed that expression levels of CYP1A2, CYP3A and CYP2E1 in cirrhotic liver tissues decreased in comparison with those of normal liver tissues while the expression level of CYP2C was increased in metastatic liver tissues (79). CYP2E1 is known to have a strong free radical-producing ability, which may cause the cellular injury and DNA damages associated with hepatocellular carcinogenesis. Hirose et al. showed that the level of CYP2E1 expression in hepatocellular carcinoma cells tends to decrease when tumor cells are less differentiated (80).

4.6. Prostate cancer

CYP1A2, CYP3A5, CYP1B1, CYP4B11, CYP2C19 and CYP2D6 mRNA were detected in normal

and tumor prostatic tissues by RT-PCR in a study with 28 prostatic samples while CYP3A4 and CYP3A7 mRNA were detected only in normal prostatic tissues (81). In 51 prostatic tumors, expression rates of CYP1A, CYP3A and CYP2C were 63, 61 and 25 percent as determined by immunohistochemistry, respectively (82). CYP2C was also detected in normal and tumor prostatic tissues by immunohistochemistry (43).

4.7. Brain tumor

CYP 1A, CYP2C9, CYP2E1 and CYP3A were identified in normal brain tissues and CYP1A, CYP2B1, CYP2A6, CYP2C, CYP2E1 and CYP3A were found in astrocytoma by immunohistochemistry (83). CYP1B1 was identified in astrocytoma although CYP1B1 expression was not detected in normal brain tissues by immunohistochemistry (40). CYP3A5 and CYP2C9 mRNA were detected by RT-PCR analysis in various brain tumors (84).

4.8. Others

Murray *et al.* showed that CYP1A, CYP2C and CYP3A were found in 68%, 29%, and 68% of tumors of urinary bladder, respectively, and suggested that the expression level of CYP1A correlated with bladder tumor grade by immunohistochemistry (85). However, Yokose *et al.* reported that they did not detect both CYP2C and CYP3A in normal and cancer tissues of urinary bladder (43). CYP1A and CYP3A were present in 51 and 28% of stomach cancer whereas CYP1A and CYP3A were not identified in normal stomach tissues (86). In normal and tumor kidney tissues, CYP3A was identified by immunohistochemistry, and CYP3A4 mRNA was detected by RT-PCR in 65% of renal cell carcinoma and 90% of normal kidney tissues (87).

5. CONCLUSIONS

Various tumors express a variety of CYPs. Studying CYP expression in tumors should be useful and essential to: 1) better understanding of the mechanisms of carcinogenesis, 2) application of a specific CYP expression in tumors as a tumor marker, 3) application of CYPdependent metabolisms for tumor targeting therapy, 4) utilities of the knowledge in specific metabolisms by CYPs expressed in tumors for selection of anti-cancer drugs. Studies of the local expression of CYPs in tumor tissues will provide insights into mechanisms of carcinogenesis and intratumoral metabolisms of anticancer drugs, which may enable us to develop the present order-made therapy to the tailor-made therapy.

6. REFERENCES

1. Nelson, D. R., L. Koymans, T. Kamataki, J. J. Stegeman, R. Feyereisen, D. J. Waxman, M. R. Waterman, O. Gotoh, M. J. Coon, R. W. Estabrook, I. C. Gunsalus and D. W. Nebert: P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, accession numbers and nomenclature. *Pharmacogenetics* 6, 1-42 (1996)

2. Oyama, T., N. Kagawa, Y. Kim, A. Matsumoto, T. Isse and T. Kawamoto: Lung Cancer and CYP1A1 or GSTM1

Polymorphisms *Environ Health Prev Med* 7, 230-234 (2003)

3. Gonzalez, F. J. and G. H. Gelboin: Role of human cytochromes P450 in the metabolic activation of chemical carcinogens and toxins. *Drug Metab Rev* 26, 165-183 (1994)

4. Windmill, K. F., R. A. McKinnon, X. Zhu, A. Gaedigk, D. M. Grant and M. E. McManus: The role of xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes in arylamine toxicity and carcinogenesis: functional and localization studies. *Mutat Res* 376, 153-160 (1997)

5. Kivisto, K. T., H. K. Kroemer and M. Eichelbaum: The role of human cytochrome P450 enzymes in the metabolism of anticancer agents: implications for drug interactions. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 40, 523-530 (1995)

6. Sobue, T., S. Yamamoto, M. Hara, S. Sasazuki, S. Sasaki, S. Tsugane and JPHC Study Group: Cigarette smoking and subsequent risk of lung cancer by histologic type in middle-aged Japanese men and women: the JPHC study. *Int J Cancer* 99, 245-251 (2002)

7. Kawajiri, K., H. Eguchi, K. Nakachi, T. Sekiya and M. Yamamoto: Association of CYP1A1 germ line polymorphisms with mutations of the p53 gene in lung cancer. *Cancer Res* 56, 72-76 (1996)

8. Denissenko, M. F., A. Pao, M. Tang and G. P. Pfeifer: Preferential formation of benzo[a]pyrene adducts at lung cancer mutational hotspots in p53. *Science* 274, 430-432 (1996)

9. Oyama, T., T. Kawamoto, T. Mizoue, K. Nishida, T. Osaki, K. Sugio, K. Yasumoto and T. Mitsudomi: p53 mutations of lung cancer are not significantly affected by CYP1A1 or GSTM1 polymorphisms. *Int J Oncol* 11, 305-309 (1997)

10. Oyama, T., T. Kawamoto, T. Mizoue, K. Sugio, Y. Kodama, T. Mitsudomi and K. Yasumoto: Cytochrome P450 2E1 polymorphism as a risk factor for lung cancer: in relation to p53 gene mutation. *Anticancer Res* 17, 583-587 (1997)

11. Vineis, P. and M. Porta: Casual thinking, biomarkers, and mechanisms of carcinogenesis. *J Clin Epidemiol* 49, 951-956 (1996)

12. Buetow, K. H., M. N. Edmonson and A. B. Cassidy: Reliable identification of large numbers of candidate SNPs from public EST data. *Nat Genet* 21, 323-325 (1999)

13. Ingelman-Sundberg, M: Genetic susceptibility to adverse effects of drugs and environmental toxicants. The role of the CYP family of enzymes. *Mutat Res* 482, 11-19 (2001)

14. Saito, S., A. Iida, A. Sekine, S. Kawauchi, S. Higuchi, C. Ogawa and Y. Nakamura: Catalog of 680 variations

among eight cytochrome p450 (CYP) genes, nine esterase genes, and two other genes in the Japanese population. *J Hum Genet* 48, 249-270 (2003)

15. Goto, I., S. Yoneda, M. Yamamoto and K. Kawajiri: Prognostic significance of germ line polymorphisms of the CYP1A1 and glutathione S-transferase genes in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Cancer Res* 56, 3725-3730 (1996)

16. Crawford, E. L., D. A. Weaver, J. P. DeMuth, C. M. Jackson, S. A. Khuder, M. W. Frampton, M. J. Utell, W. G. Thilly and J. C. Willey: Measurement of cytochrome P450 2A6 and 2E1 gene expression in primary human bronchial epithelial cells. *Carcinogenesis* 9, 1867-1871 (1998)

17. Oyama, T., T. Mitsudomi, T. Kawamoto, A. Ogami, T. Osaki, Y. Kodama and K. Yasumoto: Detection of CYP1A1 gene polymorphism using designed RFLP and distributions of CYP1A1 genotypes in Japanese. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 67, 253-256 (1995)

18. Pennisi, E: Sifting through and making sense of genome sequences. *Science* 280, 1692-1693 (1998)

19. Guengerich, F. P: Cytochrome P-450 3A4: regulation and role in drug metabolism. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* 39, 1-17 (1999)

20. Osborne, C. K: Tamoxifen in the treatment of breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 339, 1609-18 (1998)

21. Fisher, B., J. P. Costantino, D. L. Wickerham, C. K. Redmond, M. Kavanah, W. M. Cronin, V. Vogel, A. Robidoux, N. Dimitrov, J. Atkins, M. Daly, S. Wieand, E. Tan-Chiu, L. Ford and N. Wolmark: Tamoxifen for prevention of breast cancer: report of the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project P-1 Study. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 90, 1371-88 (1998)

22. Shibutani, S., P. M. Shaw, N. Suzuki, L. Dasaradhi, M. W. Duffel and I. Terashima: Sulfation of alphahydroxytamoxifen catalyzed by human hydroxysteroid sulfotransferase results in tamoxifen-DNA adducts. *Carcinogenesis* 19, 2007-11 (1998)

23. Hughes, S. J., M. A. Morse, C. M. Weghorst, H. Kim, P. B. Watkins, F. P. Guengerich, M. B. Orringer and D. G. Beer: Cytochromes P450 are expressed in proliferating cells in Barrett's metaplasia. *Neoplasia* 1999, 145-153 (1999)

24. Martinez, C., E. Garcia-Martin, R. M. Pizarro, F. J. Garcia-Gamito and J. A. Agundez: Expression of paclitaxel-inactivating CYP3A activity in human colorectal cancer: implications for drug therapy. *Br J Cancer* 87, 681-686 (2002)

25. Sandstrom, R., T. W. Knutson, L. Knutson, B. Jansson and H. Lennernas: The effect of ketoconazole on the jejunal permeability and CYP3A metabolism of (R/S)-

verapamil in humans. Br J Clin Pharmacol 48, 180-189 (1999)

26. Simpson, E. R. and S. R. Davis: Minireview: aromatase and the regulation of estrogen biosynthesis-some new perspectives. *Endocrinology* 142, 4589-94 (2001)

27. Chen, S., T. Itoh, K. Wu, D. Zhou and C. Yang: Transcriptional regulation of aromatase expression in human breast tissue. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 83, 93-99 (2002)

28. Chung, C. T. and R. W. Carlson: The role of aromatase inhibitors in early breast cancer. *Curr Treat Options Oncol* 4, 133-140 (2003)

29. Baum, M. and A. Buzdar: The current status of aromatase inhibitors in the management of breast cancer. *Surg Clin North Am* 83, 973-994 (2003)

30. Smith, I. E. and M. Dowsett: Aromatase inhibitors in breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 348, 2431-2442 (2003)

31. Visvanathan, K. and N. E. Davidson: Aromatase inhibitors as adjuvant therapy in breast cancer. *Oncology* (*Huntingt*) 17, 335-342 (2003)

32. Husbeck, B. and G. Powis: The redox protein thioredoxin-1 regulates the constitutive and inducible expression of the estrogen metabolizing cytochromes P450 1B1 and 1A1 in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* 23, 1625-1630 (2002)

33. Pyykko, K., R. Tuimala, L. Aalto and T. Perkio: Is aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activity a new prognostic indicator for breast cancer? *Br J Cancer* 63, 596-600 (1991)

34. Dialyna, I. A., D. A. Arvanitis and D. A. Spandidos: Genetic polymorphisms and transcriptional pattern analysis of CYP1A1, AhR, GSTM1, GSTP1 and GSTT1 genes in breast cancer. *Int J Mol Med* 8, 79-87 (2001)

35. Goth-Goldstein, R., M. R. Stampfer, C. A. Erdmann and M. Russell: Interindividual variation in CYP1A1 expression in breast tissue and the role of genetic polymorphism. *Carcinogenesis* 21, 2119-2122 (2000)

36. Murray, G. I., Foster C. O., T. S. Barnes, R. J. Weaver, S. W. Ewen, W. T. Melvin and M. D. Burke: Expression of cytochrome P450IA in breast cancer. *Br J Cancer* 63, 1021-1023 (1991)

37. Murray, G. I., R. J. Weaver, P. J. Paterson, S. W. Ewen, W. T. Melvin and M. D. Burke: Expression of xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes in breast cancer. *J Pathol* 169, 347-353 (1993)

38. El-Rayes, B. F., S. Ali, L. K. Heilbrun, S. Lababidi, D. Bouwman, D. Visscher and P. A. Philip: Cytochrome p450

and glutathione transferase expression in human breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 9, 1705-1709 (2003)

39. McKay, J. A., W. T. Melvin, A. K. Ah-See, S. W. Ewen, W. F. Greenlee, C. B. Marcus, M. D. Burke and G. I. Murray: Expression of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1 in breast cancer. *FEBS Lett* 374, 270-272 (1995)

40. McFadyen, M. C., S. Breeman, S. Payne, C. Stirk, I. D. Miller, W. T. Melvin and G. I. Murray: Immunohistochemical localization of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1 in breast cancer with monoclonal antibodies specific for CYP1B1. *J Histochem Cytochem* 47, 1457-1464 (1999)

41. Murray, G. I., M. C. Taylor, M. C. McFadyen, J. A. McKay, W. F. Greenlee, M. D. Burke and W. T. Melvin: Tumor-specific expression of cytochrome P450 CYP1B1. *Cancer Res* 57, 3026-3031 (1997)

42. Forrester, L. M., J. D. Hayes, R. Millis, D. Barnes, A. L. Harris, J. J. Schlager, G. Powis and C. R. Wolf: Expression of glutathione S-transferases and cytochrome P450 in normal and tumor breast tissue. *Carcinogenesis* 11, 2163-2170 (1990)

43. Yokose, T., M. Doy, T. Taniguchi, T. Shimada, M. Kakiki, T. Horie, Y. Matsuzaki and K. Mukai: Immunohistochemical study of cytochrome P450 2C and 3A in human non-neoplastic and neoplastic tissues. *Virchows Arch* 434, 401-411 (1999)

44. Kapucuoglu, N., T. Coban, H. Raunio, O. Pelkonen, R. J. Edwards, A. R. Boobis and M. Iscan: Immunohistochemical demonstration of the expression of CYP2E1 in human breast tumour and non-tumour tissues. *Cancer Lett* 196, 153-159 (2003)

45. Levi, F., F. Lucchini, E. Negri, P. Boyle and C. La Vecchia: Cancer mortality in Europe, 1990-1994, and an overview of trends from 1955 to 1994. *Eur J Cancer* 35, 1477-1516 (1999)

46. Cortessis, V., K. Siegmund, Q. Chen, N. Zhou, A. Diep, H. Frankl, E. Lee, Q. S. Zhu, R. Haile and D. Levy: A casecontrol study of microsomal epoxide hydrolase, smoking, meat consumption, glutathione S-transferase M3, and risk of colorectal adenomas. *Cancer Res* 61, 2381-2385 (2001)

47. Sachse, C., G. Smith, M. J. Wilkie, J. H. Barrett, R. Waxman, F. Sullivan, D. Forman, D. T. Bishop and C. R. Wolf: Colorectal Cancer Study Group. A pharmacogenetic study to investigate the role of dietary carcinogens in the etiology of colorectal cancer. *Carcinogenesis* 23, 1839-1849 (2002)

48. McKay, J. A., G. I. Murray, R. J. Weaver, S. W. Ewen, W. T. Melvin and M. D. Burke: Xenobiotic metabolising enzyme expression in colonic neoplasia. *Gut* 34, 1231239 (1993)

49. Peters, W. H., C. E. Boon, H. M. Roelofs, T. Wobbes, F. M. Nagengast and P. G. Kremers: Expression of drug-

metabolizing enzymes and P-170 glycoprotein in colorectal carcinoma and normal mucosa. *Gastroenterology* 103, 448-455 (1992)

50. Sterling, K. M. J. and K. R. Cutroneo: Differentiationdependent induction of CYP1A1 in cultured rat small intestinal epithelial cells, colonocytes, and human colon carcinoma cells: basement membrane-mediated apoptosis. *J Cell Biochem* 86, 440-450 (2002)

51. Murray, G.I: The role of cytochrome P450 in tumour development and progression and its potential in therapy. *J Pathol* 192, 419-426 (2000)

52. Nakamura, T., T. Sakaeda, N. Ohmoto, T. Tamura, N. Aoyama, T. Shirakawa, T. Kamigaki, T. Nakamura, K. I. Kim, S. R. Kim, Y. Kuroda, M. Matsuo, M. Kasuga and K. Okumura: Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction for MDR1, MRP1, MRP2, and CYP3A-mRNA levels in Caco-2 cell lines, human duodenal enterocytes, normal colorectal tissues, and colorectal adenocarcinomas. *Drug Metab Dispos* 30, 4-6 (2002)

53. Yao, D., S. Ding, B. Burchell, C. R. Wolf and T. Friedberg: Detoxication of vinca alkaloids by human P450 CYP3A4-mediated metabolism: implications for the development of drug resistance. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 294, 387-395 (2000)

54. Sabadie, N., H. B. Richter-Reichhelm, R. Saracci, U. Mohr and H. Bartsch: Inter-individual differences in oxidative benzo(a)pyrene metabolism by normal and tumorous surgical lung specimens from 105 lung cancer patients. *Int J Cancer* 27, 417-425 (1981)

55. Mollerup, S., D. Ryberg, A. Hewer, D. H. Phillips and A. Haugen: Sex differences in lung CYP1A1 expression and DNA adduct levels among lung cancer patients. *Cancer Res* 59, 3317-3320 (1999)

56. Cheng, Y. W., C. Y. Chen, P. Lin, K. H. Huang, T. S. Lin, M. H. Wu and H. Lee: DNA adduct level in lung tissue may act as a risk biomarker of lung cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 36, 1381-1388 (2000)

57. McLemore, T. L., S. Adelberg, M. C. Liu, N. A. McMahon, S. J. Yu, W. C. Hubbard, M. Czerwinski, T. G. Wood, R. Storeng and R. A. Lubet: Expression of CYP1A1 gene in patients with lung cancer: evidence for cigarette smoke-induced gene expression in normal lung tissue and for altered gene regulation in primary pulmonary carcinomas. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 82, 1333-1339 (1990)

58. Toussaint, C., N. Albin, L. Massaad, D. Grunenwald, O. J. Parise, J. Morizet, A. Gouyette and G. G. Chabot: Main drug- and carcinogen-metabolizing enzyme systems in human non-small cell lung cancer and peritumoral tissues. *Cancer Res* 53, 4608-4612 (1993)

59. Kitagawa, K., N. Kunugita, T. Katoh, M. Yang and T. Kawamoto: The significance of the homozygous CYP2A6 deletion on nicotine metabolism: a new genotyping method

of CYP2A6 using a single PCR-RFLP. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 262, 146-151 (1999)

60. Miyamoto, M., Y. Umetsu, H. Dosaka-Akita, Y. Sawamura, J. Yokota, H. Kunitoh, N. Nemoto, K. Sato, N. Ariyoshi and T. Kamataki: CYP2A6 gene deletion reduces susceptibility to lung cancer. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 261, 658-660 (1999)

61. Raunio, H., A. Rautio and O. Pelkonen: The CYP2A subfamily: function, expression and genetic polymorphism. *IARC Sci Pub* 1, 197-207 (1999)

62. Su, T., Z. Bao, Q. Y. Zhang, T. J. Smith, J. Y. Hong and X. Ding: Human cytochrome P450 CYP2A13: predominant expression in the respiratory tract and its high efficiency metabolic activation of a tobacco-specific carcinogen, 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone. *Cancer Res* 60, 5074-5079 (2000)

63. Kivisto, K. T., E. U. Griese, P. Fritz, A. Linder, J. Hakkola, H. Raunio, P. Beaune and H. K. Kroemer: Expression of cytochrome P 450 3A enzymes in human lung: a combined RT-PCR and immunohistochemical analysis of normal tissue and lung tumours. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 353, 207-212 (1996)

64. Anttila, S., J. Hukkanen, J. Hakkola, T. Stjernvall, P. Beaune, R. J. Edwards, A. R. Boobis, O. Pelkonen and H. Raunio: Expression and localization of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in human lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 16, 242-249 (1997)

65. Piipari, R., K. Savela, T. Nurminen, J. Hukkanen, H. Raunio, J. Hakkola, T. Mantyla, P. Beaune, R. J. Edwards, A. R. Boobis and S. Anttila: Expression of CYP1A1, CYP1B1 and CYP3A, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA adduct formation in bronchoalveolar macrophages of smokers and non-smokers. *Int J Cancer* 86, 610-616 (2000)

66. Spivack, S. D., G. J. Hurteau, A. A. Reilly, K. M. Aldous, X. Ding and L. S. Kaminsky: CYP1B1 expression in human lung. Drug Metab Dispos 29, 916-922 (2001)

67. Czerwinski, M., T. L. McLemore, H. V. Gelboin and F. J. Gonzalez: Quantification of CYP2B7, CYP4B1, and CYPOR messenger RNAs in normal human lung and lung tumors. *Cancer Res* 54, 1085-1091 (1994)

68. Kushida, H., K. Fujita, A. Suzuki, M. Yamada, T. Endo, T. Nohmi and T. Kamataki: Metabolic activation of N-alkylnitrosamines in genetically engineered Salmonella typhimurium expressing CYP2E1 or CYP2A6 together with human NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase. *Carcinogenesis* 21, 1227-1232 (2000)

69. Albano, E., P. Clot, M. Morimoto, A. Tomasi, M. Ingelman-Sundberg and S. W. French: Role of cytochrome P4502E1-dependent formation of hydroxyethyl free radical

in the development of liver damage in rats intragastrically fed with ethanol. *Hepatology* 23, 155-163 (1996)

70. Raunio, H., J. Hakkola, J. Hukkanen, O. Pelkonen, R. Edwards, A. Boobis and S. Anttila: Expression of xenobiotic-metabolizing cytochrome P450s in human pulmonary tissues. *Arch Toxicol* 20, (Suppl) 465-469 (1998)

71. Hukkanen, J., O. Pelkonen, J. Hakkola and H. Raunio: Expression and regulation of xenobiotic-metabolizing cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes in human lung. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 32, 391-411 (2002)

72. Lechevrel, M., A. G. Casson, C. R. Wolf, L. J. Hardie, M. B. Flinterman, R. Montesano and C. P. Wild: Characterization of cytochrome P450 expression in human oesophageal mucosa. *Carcinogenesis* 20, 243-248 (1999)

73. Nakajima, T., R. S. Wang, Y. Nimura, Y. M. Pin, M. He, H. Vainio, N. Murayama, T. Aoyama and F. Iida: Expression of cytochrome P450s and glutathione S-transferases in human esophagus with squamous-cell carcinomas. *Carcinogenesis* 17, 1477-1481 (1996)

74. Murray, G. I., D. Shaw, R. J. Weaver, J. A. McKay, S. W. Ewen, W. T. Melvin and M. D. Burke: Cytochrome P450 expression in oesophageal cancer. *Gut* 35, 599-603 (1994)

75. Kirby, G. M., C. R. Wolf, G. E. Neal, D. J. Judah, C. J. Henderson, P. Srivatanakul and C. P. Wild: *In vitro* metabolism of aflatoxin B1 by normal and tumor liver tissue from Thailand. *Carcinogenesis* 14, 2613-2620 (1993)

76. Kondoh, N., T. Wakatsuki, A. Ryo, A. Hada, T. Aihara, S. Horiuchi, N. Goseki, O. Matsubara, K. Takenaka, M. Shichita, K. Tanaka, M. Shuda and M. Yamamoto: Identification and characterization of genes associated with human hepatocellular carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res* 59, 4990-4996 (1999)

77. Murray, G. I., P. J. Paterson, R. J. Weaver, S. W. Ewen, W. T. Melvin and M. D. Burke: The expression of cytochrome P-450, epoxide hydrolase, and glutathione S-transferase in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer* 71, 36-43 (1993)

78. Fritz, P., E. Behrle, P. Beaune, M. Eichelbaum and H. K. Kroemer: Differential expression of drug metabolizing enzymes in primary and secondary liver neoplasm: immunohistochemical characterization of cytochrome P4503A and glutathione-S-transferase. *Histochemistry* 99, 443-451 (1993)

79. Guengerich, F. P. and C. G. Turvy: Comparison of levels of several human microsomal cytochrome P-450 enzymes and epoxide hydrolase in normal and disease states using immunochemical analysis of surgical liver samples. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 256, 1189-1194 (1991)

80. Hirose, Y., Z. Naito, S. Kato, M. Onda and Y. Sugisaki: Immunohistochemical study of CYP2E1 in hepatocellular carcinoma carcinogenesis: examination with newly prepared anti-human CYP2E1 antibody. *J Nippon med Sch* 69, 243-251 (2002)

81. Finnstrom, N., C. Bjelfman, T. G. Soderstrom, G. Smith, L. Egevad, B. J. Norlen, C. R. Wolf and A. Rane: Detection of cytochrome P450 mRNA transcripts in prostate samples by RT-PCR. *Eur J clin invest* 31, 880-886 (2001)

82. Murray, G. I., V. E. Taylor, J. A. McKay, R. J. Weaver, S. W. B. Ewen, W. T. Melvin and M. D. Burke: The immunohistochemical localization of drug-metabolizing enzymes in prostate cancer. *J Pathol* 177, 147-152 (1995)

83. McFadyen, M. C., W. T. Melvin and G. I. Murray: Cytochrome P450 in normal human brain and brain tumours. *Biochem Soc Trans* 25, S577 (1997)

84. Knupfer, H., M. M. Knupfer, M. Hotfilder and R. Preiss: P450-expression in brain tumors. *Oncol Res* 11, 523-528 (1999)

85. Murray, G. I., V. E. Taylor, J. A. McKay, R. J. Weaver, S. W. Ewen, W. T. Melvin and M. D. Burke: Expression of xenobiotic metabolizing enzymes in tumours of the urinary bladder. *Int J Exp Pathol* 76, 271-276 (1995)

86. Murray, G. I., M. C. Taylor, M. D. Burke and W. T. Melvin: Enhanced expression of cytochrome P450 in stomach cancer. *Br J Cancer* 77, 1040-1044 (1998)

87. Murray, G. I., M. C. McFadyen, R. T. Mitchell, Y. L. Cheung, A. C. Kerr and W. T. Melvin: Cytochrome P450 CYP3A in human renal cell cancer. *Br J Cancer* 79, 1836-1842 (1999)

Abbreviations: CYP, cytochrome P450, NADPH, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate, FAD, flavin adenine dinucleotide, FMN, flavin mononucleotide, AHH, Aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase, PAH, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

Key Words: Cytochrome P450, Tumor, Extrahepatic expression, Drug metabolism, Carcinogenesis, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Tsunehiro Oyama, Department of Environmental Health, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Kitakyushu 807-8555, Japan, Tel: 93-691-7429, Fax: 93-691-9341, E-mail: oyama@med.uoeh-u.ac.jp